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JULTAETTA'S FORGOTTEN HUMANITARIA::

ROBERT FOSTER, SR. (1868-1934)

by

Carolyn Gravelle

odo

Editor's Note: About 1903 Robert Foster established a Juliaetta medical service
which was to become famous throughout the Northwest for curing skin cancer with-
out a knife, applied psychology, natural foods, and self-assertiveness training.
Carolyn Gravelle of Juliaetta prepared this account of the doctor's life and his

significant impact upon the small community.

o

Tightly wrapping his strong arms around
the sick baby, the man from Kentucky,

_through powers even he did not know,

transferred the high fever from the small
body to his own six foot build. While
the infant was miraculously relieved from
the dangerously high temperature, the
young man became extremely ill, close to
death. Suddenly aware of his natural
gift to help sick people, Robert Foster,
after his slow recovery, began studying
medicine to cultivate professionally the
art of healing.

To begin, he trained wunder Dr. W. A.
Jackson, a renowned cancer specialist of
the 1880's in Kentucky. There, in July
1889, Foster received his first medical
diploma at twenty-one years of age. His
graduation from the American School of
Magnetic Healing in Nevada, Missouri,
followed in January 1890. Then, ten years
later, in Louisville, Kentucky, he gradu-
ated, October 1900, from the Louisville
School of Physicians and Surgeons.

The early 1900's found Foster in Oakland,
California, with his wife Nana Nichols,
who hated her nickname "Nanny." How and
where the couple met was undetermined.
Some said his wife was one of Foster's
cured patients who fell in 1love, then

married him. Others said no marriége
took place. Some said Mrs. Foster, being
a trained practical nurse, encountered
the doctor somewhere during his training.
Others said Mrs. Foster knew the doctor
in Kentucky long before he even began
his schooling. Known for her Kentuckian
accent and Southern formalities, Mrs.
Foster probably met and married her love
in Kentucky, then ventured West with him
to help set up his first practice.

While the Fosters lived in Oakland, Mr.
Eighler, an elderly, rich, civil war vet-
eran, who traveled world-wide with his
wife, was suffering from a serious health
problem. He went to Foster and was cured.
Gratefully indebted to his "miraclework-
er,” Mr. Eighler always kept in close.
range to his fine doctor's help.

For unknown reasons, perhaps homesickness
for one, the Fosters decided to leave
California and return East. Mr. Eighler
encouraged, if not insisted, that Foster
travel through the Pacific Northwest,
more specifically through the Lewiston-
Clarkston area. So Foster and his wife
traveled up to Portland, then took the
steamer on the Colombia and Snake Rivers
to Lewiston, Idaho. There, receiving
word from the FEighlers to visit them in




Juliaetta where they were temporarily
staying, Foster hired a hack for the
twenty mile ride up river from Lewiston.

Struck by the lovely white syringa blos-

soms, Mrs. Foster ‘fell in love with the
Potlatch River Valley. She had never
seen anyplace more beautiful: the ver-

dant hills, the embowering pine trees,
the musical river gurgles, ah, yes, and
those enchanting syringa. Mrs. Foster
wanted all that to be their home.

There were conflicting dates as to the
year the Fosters arrived in Juliaetta.
Foster's obituary in the Lewiston Morn-
ing Tribune, written July 29, 1934,
stated his arrival as 1902. However,
his daughter "Babe,"” now Mrs. Mel Thomas
of Lewiston, recalled her folks talking

about how fortunate they were to have
left the San Francisco area three years
before the Big Earthquake in 1906. If
that were the case, the Fosters would
have come to Juliaetta in 1903.

So Foster, thirty-five years of age, and
his wife, expecting their first born,
decided to stay in the Northwest; their
plans to return East were abandoned.
Why Foster picked Juliaetta, rather than
other area towns, was not known. Perhaps
local businessmen, especially newspaper-
man Everett Tiller, convinced him to stay
in Juliaetta by pointing out the town's
potentiality and aesthetic qualities.
Perhaps, more practically, there was a
need for a doctor in town.

Foster purchased a building, built by Emil

Foster School of Healing in Stump building in early 1900s.
Latah County, Idaho"--1911 supplement to The Juliaetta Sun.

Photo from "Juliaetta,




Merta who managed the Grand Central Hotel
on Main Street. Since it was designed
for another hotel, the spacious structure
easily accommodated both Foster's small
family and his beginning practice.

By 1903 Foster established medical ser-
vice in his home, located on 4th and
State Streets. At first it was known as
Foster's Osteopathic Sanitarium, never
known to be a hospital, and soon changed
to Foster's School of Healing. When in-
creasing numbers of people continually
flowed in and out of his home, he moved
his school in 1909 to the upper floor of
the Stump Building, built by Foster him—
self in 1908 on Main Street. (The first
floor of the building held the jewelry
shop and the confectionary and ice cream
parlor.)

Foster handled cases dealing with the di-
gestive and nervous systems, also with
spinal and skin disorders; this included
ulcers, colitus, polio, and skin cancer.

Some of his treatments were basically
simple. For example, Foster positioned
his patient's head and feet in a manner
to pinch nerves at the proper place to
stop diarrhea. However, with skin cancer,
like the lip cancer which ate away part

of the mouth of Blacksmith Kennedy on
Water Street, Foster used his "burner”
treatment. This was one of the more
complex treatments, which some said

Foster had run onto accidentally.

The "burner” meant application of a paste,
consisting of a brown liquid mixed with
flour, to the cancerous area on the skin.

Present

day picture of Stump building.

Photo courtesy of Paul Gravelle.



The number of applications depended upon
the size of the cancer; usually the
"burner” killed the growth overnight.
Foster always warned his patients ahead
of time of the burning sensation they
would feel. He assured them it would
hurt; but, in turn, he mentally prepared
them on how to handle the pain. People,
treated with the "burner,” were
frequently up and down the wooden side-
walks, the dirt roads, trying to walk
off the pain it caused. They walked and
walked and walked.

After the paste had been applied, a very
thin layer of clean cotton cloth with
feathered edges was placed on the treated
area. Foster then brushed collodion over
the cotton to keep it in place. Often he
could accurately predict how long it would
take for the cancer to work itself out.
When it was time, the cancer, a smooth,
slippery mass, similar to an oyster,
would be pulled cleanly away from the
healthy skin. He then asked the patient
if he wanted to keep the cancer; if he
did, Foster placed it in a jar of alcohol
for the person to take home. One patient
said, "Foster would never keep the can-
cers for himself to show everybody and

say, 'Look here. This is what I re-
moved.' Foster wasn't that kind."
After the cancer was removed, Foster

cleansed the affected area with alcohol,
then spread a heavy brown salve, having
the consistency of peanut butter, onto the
wound. This specially prepared formula
drew out a green virus. If this green
virus, which clung to healthy skin tissue
remained, the cancer, according to Fos-
ter, was not cured!

Once again a clean poultice covered the
treated area. Since the green virus
quickly set on the worn poultice, it was
necessary to cleanse the skin with alco-
hol, apply more salve, and change the
dressing frequently: at least twice a
day, twelve hours apart. Few doctors are
known to be up and in their offices,

dressing their patients wounds at 6 a.m.
Foster was among those few.

seen,

Not only did this salve pull the virus
out, but it healed the wound slowly, com—
pletely, first internally until there was
no apparent hole or scar. Where ‘there
once was ugly cancer, after Foster's

treatment, there was beautifully smooth

skine.

What were the actual ingredients for these
treatments of skin cancer? Although Fos-
ter was known to have ordered large quan-
tities of blue vitriol (copper sulfate),
it was mere speculation as to what really
was used. If acid were wused for the
"burner" to eat away abnormal cells, as
some claimed, why then would it not also
eat away normal cells? Foster's formula
killed cancerous, never healthy tissue.
As for the healing salve, one woman who
used it said, "They just don't make those
ingredients any more. It's a shame but
they just aren't made now.” One of the
ingredients was said to be calomel. What-
ever they were, the secrets were handed
down to Foster's son, Dr. J. R. Foster,
who, before his recent death, had an ex-
tensive cancer following in Portland,
Oregon.

Although he settled in Juliaetta, Foster
traveled extensively. From New York to
Seattle, he would acquire more diplomas,
update his professional techniques, at-
tend stage plays and concerts, buy expen-—
sive collectibles for his dear wife, and
meet men who wanted to settle in the West.

Foster influenced many businessmen to
come to Juliaetta. An excellent example
was J. C. Groseclose whom he met in Spo-

kane, Washington. Persuaded by Foster's
enthusiasm, the J. C. Groseclose family
arrived in Juliaetta, September 1903, to
start a furniture store, an undertaking
and embalming service, and a millinery
shop.

While traveling to continue his educa-
tion, Foster had forsaken internal medi-
cine. He turned to different doctoring
techniques and graduated from the fol-
lowing schools: the National School of
Osteopathy, Chicago, in July 1902; the
St. Louis School of Suggestive Therapeu-
tics and Medical Electricity in October



1903; the Chicago School of Psychology in
November 1903. Although he became famous
for curing skin cancer without a knife,
applied psychology, natural foods, self-
assertiveness——all became part of his new
thought.

The fundamental object of his establish-

ment, according to the 1911 Supplementary

Edition of The Juliaetta Sun, was "to
inculcate into the minds of its patients
the reasons why it is necessary to live,
both physically and mentally, in accor-
dance with the natural or infinite laws
in order to manifest a healthful, bodily
condition.”

Consequently, in addition to treating
physical disorders, Foster was concerned

with the patients' mental disposition and'

attitude. Besides lecturing on good eat-
ing habits, Foster addressed self-help
techniques: primarily positive attitudes

toward one's self, then positive atti-

tudes toward one's fellow man. The secret

of success, he told his patients, included’

practicing self-control, self-healing,

self-hypnosis, self-knowledge, and power .

to heal others by magnetism, intuition,
telepathy, suggestion. These practices
led to hope, cheerfulness, happiness;

they harmonized the self to be free, fear--

less, and independent. These life prin-
ciples were not an imaginary force,
it was taught, but they were real, nat-
tural functions which could heal in a
short time period. They were magnetic,
suggestive, healing principles to 1live
in harmony with 1life and to alleviate
sickness, disease, and sorrow. In all
cases, mental suggestion formed the basis
for permanent healing.

These lectures, which could be attended
by anyone interested in the instructive
content, were always part of the patients'
treatment. Instead of any particular
rules, creeds, or dogma, universal prin-
ciples of living were taught, left to the
patients' judgment and discretion for ap-
plication to their own lives. The prin-
ciples were presented in a simple, logical
language; the science was easily under-
stood in plain, familiar concepts.

Daily lectures, with forty-five to
seventy—-five people in attendance, were
given by Foster or one of his assistants.
As many as eight assistants were reported
to have studied under Foster in Juliaetta.
Some of these medical students were
the following: Blacksmiths Stephens and
Bozarth, quitting their trade in Julia-
etta, became "Rub Doctors,” working on
backs, particularly dislocated vertebrae;
both Stephens and Frank Bozarth event-
ually practiced in Spokane, Washington.
Ulysses G. Marsh, a druggist and Juliaetta
postmaster, became an osteopath. John
Noble, formerly of Lewiston, later prac-
ticed in Vancouver, Washington. J. E.
DeBaun stayed with Foster, practiced in
Clarkston at Foster's Health Home as a
specialist in Radio-Vibratory Diagnosis
and Radio-Electronic Treatment. Accord-
ing to legal and educational authorities,
these men, who trained under Foster in
Juliaetta, were issued liceunses to prac-
tice as doctors. Indeed a uniquely pres-
tigious honor bestowed upon Foster by
Idaho State Law.

The important feature of Foster's healing
institution, stated The Juliaetta Sun,
was "not alone in its ability to relieve
diseased conditions, but its true virtue
lies in teaching the patient the immutable
principles governing 1life, which, when
understood, gives the person that power
which conquers and overcomes disease and
diseased conditions in whatever form."
For Foster, being a doctor implied not
only being a healer, but also being a
teacher.

Stories revealed Foster's standing across
the -room with his hands held behind his
back, his thick, wavy hair combed neatly
on his tilted head, and his warm blue
eyes keenly observing the person as he
entered his office for the first time.
Numerous reports disclosed that before
the patient sat, spoke not one word, was'
not touched by the doctor that Foster had
the case diagnosed correctly.

Behavior spoke loudly to Foster's sharp-
ened intuitive nature. He analyzed the



Doctors trained by Doctor Foster.

1st row, left to right:
Dr. Foster, Dr. J. E. DeBaun, Dr. Stephens.

Dr. Ulysses G.

March,
2nd row, left to right:

Dr. John Noble,

Dr. Frank Bozarth.
facial expressions, the walking, stand-
ing, and sitting gestures. They all

pointed out emotional and physical symp-
toms of the person's ailment.

Then to confirm his hunches, he examined

the patient and always asked, "What have
you been eating?” Himself, almost to-
tally vegetarian, encouraged all his

patients to eat natural foods, promoting
their high nutritional value for health
of mind and body. His practical advice
on proper diet and healthful foods was
part of healing his patient and of edu-
cating the patient on how to defer future
illnesses.

Some people believed he was a faith heal-
er, a spiritualist who rubbed the devil
out, but Foster never claimed that.
Others swore he used ESP and telepathy to
read minds. Clearly Foster believed in
himself and consciously used the power of
suggestion. "You are going to be better,”

he told his patients and they generally
were!

Because Foster relied wupon his highly

developed intuitive skills, many of his .
diagnoses, according to the medical pro-

fession, were unscientific. As a result,

medical doctors easily, in fact, quite

readily labeled him "quack."

Despite growing criticism of his "charla-
tan” practices, hundreds of sick people
kept coming to Foster. Consistently high
numbers of patients swore by his treat-
ment, leaving Juliaetta cured. One source

says few people were known to have died
under Foster's care.

was his
thousands of
Approximately

Never publicly advertised, it
magnetism which attracted
people to enter his life.
fifty local residents were cured, but
people came from all around: from north-
ern and.southern Idaho, "rom the states



of Washington, Oregon, Utah, Wyoming, and
Montana. Later, when Foster 1lived in
Clarkston, his reputation spread into
California where the actress Mary Pick-
ford wrote for his help to cure her
mother's cancer. The Mayo Clinic even
recognized his work. People from other
countries sought his service.

Although he had been criticized for diag-
nosing a case as cancerous so he could
get the money, many people recalled Fos-
ter practically giving his money away.
When he met a sick person who did not
have any money for treatments, Foster
treated him anywaye. There were many
instances when patients with no money
would be cured, given room and board,

‘money to return home--all paid by Fos-

ter himself. He expected nothing in
return.

"I've got to go now,"” some patients said
to Foster after they began treatment but
had run out of money.

"You're not well yet,” Foster would say,
seriously concerned. "You've got to
stay."

"I haven't any more money," the patients
sadly admitted. Then Foster often paid
their room and board to keep them in town
until they were well enough to leave. Of
course, if a patient had the money, Foster
would charge.

Another criticism about Foster's work
was that it brought so many sick people
to Juliaetta. Although it brought sick
people, the point was that Foster brought
people. And with people, business
promptly picked up to make Juliaetta a
bustling town. The town grew in popula-
tion, over 900; with the wvisitors, it
might have reached 1500. Where did all
the people stay? In hotels, boarding
houses, or residents' homes who rented
out extra rooms.

What effect did all these people have on
Juliaetta, on its surrounding farm dis-
tricts of Fix, American, and Potlatch

Ridges? Over fifty businesses thrived!

There were hotels, mercantiles, milli-
nery and jewelry shops, banks, newspaper
offices. There were water works and
modern electric plants, a tramway. The
Northern Pacific Railway made stops in
Juliaetta from Lewiston or Spokane four
times dailye. Entertainment included an
ice cream parlor, a roller-skating rink, a
pool hall, a dance hall, a concert band,
a movie theater, and an opera house. A
barber, dentist, pharmacist, attorney-at-
law, undertaker and embalmer served the
peoples' private needs. There were fruit
packers, a cannery, a flour mill, a meat
market. There were real estate brokers,
carpenters, a lumber company, a hardware
store, a furniture store, a concrete block
and brick manufacturer, a dray line, and
livery stables. The townspeople congre-
gated in the Catholic, German Lutheran,
Presbyterian, United Brethren, and Chris-
tian Churches; in fact, Foster himself
built the Christian Church on State
Street. The town developed an educative
quality about which to be proud: there
were the Juliaetta School (accomodating
grades one through twelve), the Porter
School of Art, and Foster's School of
Healing.

Foster was the key to Juliaetta's economy.
In 1911 The Juliaetta Sun acknowledged
this fact: "This institution [Foster's
School of Healing] has proven to be one
of the greatest factors in the develop-
ment and growth of the town.”

Fascinated with the theme of faith in God’
and man, Foster was known to quote from
the Bible, from the Greek philosopher
Plato, from Mary Baker Eddy who was a late
nineteenth century American religious
leader, scientist, founder of the Church
of Christ, Scientist. However, a favor-
ite saying of his own was: "“Beyond all
being and phenomena, there is God."

This ever present consciousness of God,
along with his deep sensitivity of man,
was captured in the following, undated




poem, written by Foster himself:

I do not ask, O Lord, that life may be
A pleasant road;
I do not ask that Thou wouldst take
from me .
Aught of its load;

I do not ask that flowers should
always spring
Beneath my feet;
I know too well the poison and the sting
Of things too sweet.

For one thing only, Lord, my Lord,
I plead--
Lead me aright,
Though strength should falter and though
heart should bleed,
Through peace to light.

I do not ask, O lord, that Thou
shouldst shed
Full radiance here; %
Give but a ray of peace, that I may tread
Without a fear.

I do not ask my cross to understand,
My way to see;
Better in darkness just to feel Thy hand,

And follow Thee.
Other than writing, Foster enjoyed satis-
fying his unusual sense of humor. At

times refined women described him hope-
less. For instance, once when Mrs. Foster
had dinner guests, Foster would sit down
after the meal had begun, proceed to eat
peas with his knife, and say, "I know my
wife doesn't 1like this so she's going
to kick me under the table."” Nonchalant-
ly he continued with his conversation, de-
lighted with disconcerting their guests,
embarrassing his wife, and getting away
with an unconventional way of eating.

Another time which encouraged people to
believe that "he wasn't exactly educated”
goes like this: Foster and his wife were
arguing over the spelling of "pneumonia.”
She made the point that she knew there

"p" somewhere in the word. Foster

was a "p
amusingly insisted, "No, no, no. No such

thing. It's spelled n-u-m-o-n-y. Numony!"
Because of his fame, Foster was the man
of the town. His prominence meant money,

living well, having a beautiful home.

With two living rooms, two dining halls,
bedrooms for each member of the family, .
plus many more rooms, Foster paid "hired

girls"” for domestic help. The four Fos-

ter children, Robert, Leva, Charles, and

"Babe," had his or her own private nurse.

He hired a gardener for the mansion's

grounds and stablemen, including George'
Smith, for the horses.

However, while the Fosters lived in "the
show place"” of Juliaetta, their home was
said to be haunted. One version described
a nurse in a white uniform appearing at
the front, second floor window, to the
right of the observer on the street. The
ghost would walk onto the porch, holding
a baby. It's rumored the baby was killed
while Foster received patients at his
home. Why the murder took place and whose
baby was killed were unknown. Later, the
window was boarded up.

The other version agreed the ghost was a
nurse, but instead of the second floor
window, it appeared in the long, narrow
window on the left hand side of the front

door. The ghost stood day and night,
without a baby, doing nothing else but
standing. Mrs. Foster was asked about

the ghost and replied that it was she!
The ghost was Mrs. Foster? Was she amused
by the question or was she serious?

After the Fosters moved from Juliaetta,
the T. O. Green family purchased the home
and quickly replaced the glass. It didn't
do any good: the ghost remained in that
window by the front door. Later, the
window was taken out; siding was nailed
across its opening; the ghost was dead.

December 1911, after eight or nine years
in Juliaetta, at the age of forty-three
years, Foster moved his family and prac-
tice to Clarkston, Washington. Why Fos-
ter left the growing town warranted much
speculation.




Osteopathic sanitarium and Fosfer home.
Courtesy The Castle Museum, Juliaetta—--
Mr. and Mrs. 0. Cope.

N

[ Ev i

S R il
Foster home today. Photo by Paul Gravelle.
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Was the more populated Lewiston-Clarkston
area more accessible for his patients?
Even though Juliaetta had four daily train
stops on its railway lines, its smaller
Potlatch River did not handle large river
traffic. Being close to the busy piers
on the Clearwater and Snake Rivers, along

with all the train stops, might have meant
a more convenient location for Foster's

practice.

Or were the Idaho State Laws driving him
out of state? Around 1909 the state of
Idaho, passing laws with stringent medi-
cal provisions, might have made it more
difficult for Foster to exercise some of
his practices. Since the state of Wash—
ington had more lenient laws, Foster moved
to Clarkston.

Or was the disagreement with one of the
bankers over Foster's account enough to
aggravate him for a quick departure?
Whether Foster broke his leg at the bank
because of an actual fight with the banker
or because of losing his balance on the
bank's slippery step was not conclusively

. known. Regardless of what happened,

within a week after his broken leg, Foster
packed up and left town.

One of these reasons or a combination of
them might explain why Foster left Julia-
etta. But with his exodus, an immediate
storm of protest raged in town. Citizens
circulated a petition asking Foster to
remain. According to a Lewiston Morning
Tribune dispatch on January 1, 1912, 95%

of the town's electors signed the peti-

tion, and fifty Juliaetta businessmen
called on Foster one evening to urge him
to stay. At first Foster agreed to return
to Juliaetta, but soon afterwards changed
his mind. Instead of returning, he estab-
lished the Foster Health Home, an insti-
tution, similar to the School of Healing,
for the treatment of chronic, nervous,
and spinal diseases with cancer and skin
specialists. Foster remained in Clarks-—
ton, Washington, some thirty miles from
Juliaetta, until his death on July 29,
1934.

What resulted when Foster left? Julia-
etta was upset. "When Foster was here,”
commented one source, “"everybody who
wanted to keep a boarder kept a boarder.
Money was flowing." But when Foster left,
most of the businesses died.

Many of the townspeople were angry. Crit-
icisms of Foster became apparent.




"Foster didn't care if the town grew or

not; he didn't want anything to do with
the town."

"He wanted to be in town to see how much
money he could make and that's all.”

People immediately liked the biting label

"quack."

Almost overnight he became an illiterate,
even though Foster authored books on heal-
ing and Christian living, two of them en-
titled The Science of Healing and The Way

to Live.

His drinking became a great issue. Al-
though Foster was denounced for his drink-
ing problem later in Clarkston, people,
forever grateful to their doctor, retort-
ed, "Dr. Foster drunk is worth more than
two other doctors sober."

While many were so willing to judge him,

10

Foster never judged others. Often he
said, "There's one thing in this 1life-
time I don't want to be and that's a
judge." He reprimanded those close to
him who judged other people. Emphatical-
ly Foster repeated this advice: "Don't
you ever say that. You don't know his
pressures. If you were him, you don't
know what you'd do. You'd probably make
the same mistake he'd make. Don't ever
say that!"

Although many people heard about or remem-
bered some weakness of Foster, he had al-
ways held the respect of those healed
from his treatments, who heard his wise
words, who were showered with his gener-
ositye In a caring manner he changed
thousands of lives. And those were the
.ones who knew him as a gifted doctor,
wonderfully dedicated to help his fellow
man. No doubt, this was his chief contri-
bution to humanity: saving lives.

Ao

Editor's Note: The following items are
from an early Moscow Mirror newspaper.

THE TELEPHONE.

While a telephone communication connect-
ing Colfax with Moscow will be of great
convenience and profit to the business
men of both towns, this aid to facilitate
business only demonstrates the more the
need of better communications between
Lewiston and Moscow wherein so much of
our important business lies that cannot
be transmitted through other channels.
Many an expensive trip is made to Lewiston
concerning which that could be done as
well by telephone and avoid the expense
and labor of travel. Will some one esti-
mate the cost of twenty miles of wire,
320 poles, the cost of erecting and the
expense of the apparatus? We think that

Lewiston, Genesee and Uniontown would
join us in the scheme. Gentlemen think
of 43

Moscow Mirror
L uly 1885 . p, 2

MOSCOW MATRONS MADE MAD.

To Jacob James Holt, Esq. We, the under-
signed ladies of the west part of Moscow,
respectfully ask you to remove the manure
pile, adjoining your barn on 3rd street,
from the sidewalk, so that we can go to
and from the butcher shop without wading
through hog, horse, and cow manure, ankle
deep, at the very next rain. We know of
no law that allows a person to take the
sidewalk and make a barn yard of it and
compel not only the men but the little
children and women to pass through it.
If your wife and children would come into
your sitting room with their shoes, stock-
ings and skirts soiled with barn yard
manure when their husbands and fathers
were paying taxes every year for roads
and sidewalks, you would naturally ask,
"why does one man take away our county
road and sidewalk and use it for his barn
yard? 1Is he greater than the county?”
Signed: ELEVEN LADIES
Moscow Mirror
17 ‘July 1885, p. 3
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A HISTORY OF 110SCOW, IDAHO

by

W. G. Emery

Editor's Note:

oo

In 1896, W. G. Emery, a photographer, opened a gallery in Moscow.

In 1897 he wrote A History of Moscow, Idaho, With Sketches of Some of Its Prominent

Citizens, Firms and Corporations.
Moscow Mirror newspaper.

The History was published as a supplement to the

Latah Legacy is republishing this history in three installments, of which this is the

last.

odo

THE UNIVERSITY OF IDAHO

We have now come to a subject which is one
of great interest to all, viz: University
education. It is with especial pleasure
and pride that we call the attention of
our readers to the magnificent institu-
tion of learning that stands on University
hill overlooking our beautiful city.

In all its departments are found educators
trained at the most distinguished col-
leges in the land and from its halls come
forth yearly young men and young ladies
who are destined to be a credit to them—
selves, their alma mater and their coun-
try.

The University of Idaho was established at
the fifteenth session of the legislature
of the, then, territory, January 30, 1889.
The act creating the institution received
the approval of Governor E. A. Stevenson.
The original bill appropriated $15,000 to
be expended 1in purchasing and improving
the grounds of the proposed building. The
regents were empowered to purchase not
less than ten nor more than twenty acres
of land as a site. The board was ap-
pointed by the governor and immediately
set to the work of forming itself into an
organization. This was done by electing

the following officers: President, Hon.
Willis Sweet; Vice-President, Col. J. W.
Jones; Secretary, Dr. H. B. Blake and
Treasurer, R. S. Browne. They provided
for the appointment of an executive com-
mittee to work under the direction of the
regents. This committee was not autho-
rized to make a greater expenditure than
$100 on any improvement except previously
ordered by the board. The first executive.
committee consisted of Willis Sweet, J. W.
Jones and H. B. Blake. It was instructed
to purchase grounds for the building and
accordingly bids were invited for the num-
ber of acres specified in the act. In Ap-
ril of the same year, the bids, which were
quite numerous, were opened in the pres-
ence of all the members, and that of Mr.
James Deakin of Moscow, was accepted.
Twenty acres adjoining the town was se-
cured at a cost of $4000. From this site
is obtained one of the finest views of
Moscow and surrounding country that can
be had from any portion of the city. As
soon as possible thereafter plans and
specifications were drawn up and notices
inserted in the different papers. Bids
were invited for laying the foundation and
the contract was awarded to Messrs. Taylor
& Lauder, at that time a well-known firm
of builders in Moscow. Our readers will
be able to form some idea of the magnitude




of the building when we inform them that
the foundation alone cost $10,000.98. 1t
is of native granite, laid in Portland
cement resting upon hard pan and the width
at the base is six feet. Under the watch-
ful eye of Dr. H. B. Blake the grounds
were greatly improved and beautified by
the planting of an abundance of carefully
selected trees. These have rapidly grown
and today form a most pleasing foreground
to the University and grounds. The thanks
of Moscow and of Idaho will always be due
these gentlemen for their untiring ef-
forts during the early history of our
University. The plans called for a most
substantial structure which, when com—
pleted, was not to contain a wooden parti-
tion in the entire building. This of
course made it an expensive undertaking
and although it was the wish of the re-
gents to push the completion of the struc-
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ture as rapidly as possible, yet feeling
the pressure of the demand for the imme-
diate operation of the University, they
decided to finish the west wing at once.
At the next annual meeting, Hon. Willis
Sweet and H. B. Blake were reelected and
the new members were R. Z. Johnson, Boise
City; Senator G. L. Shoup, Boise City;
Nathan Falk, Boise City; Hon. J. W. Reid,
Lewiston, and J. H. Forney of Moscow.
The board met on the 8th of July 1892
and let the contract for building the
west wing to Taylor & Lauder of this city.
They pushed the work along with the great-—
est possible rapidity and succeeded in
completing the basement story before the
storms of winter, which were unusually
severe that year, compelled them to de-

.sist from further work till the following

spring when the work was resumed and car-
ried on with vigor till the wing was com—
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ROTC cadets drilling on the old Administration Building lawn.
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pleted and ready for occupancy at the
beginning of the fall of 1892. The facul-
ty which numbered but two at the opening
of the University has been increased to
twenty-four and includes graduates from
Cornell, Columbia, Union, Oberlin, North-
western, the State University of Ohio and
Michigan, and the Agricultural Colleges
of Michigan and South Dakota. The enroll-
ment for 1896-7 was 255, 64 being in the
college classes. The present year opened
with a much larger attendance than ever
before and promises larger enrollment.
A marked and most gratifying increase is
also shown in the higher classes which
already number over 80. The upper classes
in the preparatory school have been great-
ly increased, while the lowest class is
much smaller than formerly. This is due,
as mentioned elsewhere, to the advance-
ment of the grade in our public schools
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which are coming into closer relation-
ship with the University and have adopted
courses to meet its requirements. Were
the same grades established in the schools
of the sister towns of Moscow, or were the
state more bountifully supplied with high
schools the preparatory course at the Uni-
versity would not be needed, but until
this is done it is a necessity. Some of
the best equipped students in the college
classes are those whose preparatory in-
struction was received in this department
which is proof sufficient of its wvalue
and efficiency. The University has an
excellent library of 4,000 volumes and
9,500 pamphlets. The departments of agri-
culture, chemistry, mining, botany, phys-
ics and zoology have thoroughly equipped
laboratories, scientific apparatus being
valued at $30,000. Entering the main hall
one may spend several pleasant and in-

Early University of Idaho chemistry laboratory.

U of I Photo Collection.




structive hours in examining the various
valuable and scientific collections on
exhibition along either side. Here may

be seen specimens of the different flora
of the entire northwest; quartz and ores
from the different mining districts of
Idaho and elsewhere, and groups of fauna,
biped and quadruped from the tiny humming
bird to the crouching lion, arranged and
mounted with all the taxidermist's skill.

At the beginning of the last scholastic
year the new courses of study went into
operation. There are now nine regular
college courses; the classical, the phi-
losophical, the agricultural, the civil
engineering, the mining engineering, the
scientific with four years of chemistry
as a major, the scientific with four years
of botany as a major, the scientific with
four years of 2zoology as a major. The
special courses are preparatory, bench
work in wood, military science and tac-
tics, wood carving, free hand drawing,
art, music, dairying, cooking and assay-
ing. The mining and agricultural depart-
ments have adopted methods that are of
practical benefit to those interested in
these important industries. The profes-
sor of mining, in addition to his general
duties makes numerous assay tests during
the year and early in January gives a
short course of practical instruction in
assaying, etc., for the benefit of pros-
pectors and others interested in this
work. During the summer of 1896 the
citizens of Moscow purchased a tract of
over eighty acres of excellent farming
land and presented it to the University
for an experimental station. The bene-
fits derived from this munificent gift
will be of especial advantage to the ag-
ricultural interests of the entire state.
The professor of agriculture follows much
the same methods. A visit to his depart-
ment will convince anyone of the thorough
and practical work that is being accom-—
plished under his supervision, and during
the year he gives a few weeks of lectures
to the farmers on scientific agriculture.
In addition to the scholastic work there
is a course of military instruction in
charge of a U.S. army officer especially
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detailed for this purpose by the War De-
partment. The cadets are required to wear
a uniform and their practical instruction
at drill, target practice, etce., is con-
ducted in accordance with strict military
regulations. This has had a marked effect
upon the physique and comportment of the
students. There are two literary socie-
ties connected with the University and al-
so two musical organizations whose public
programs always attract a large and appre-
ciative audience. The University Athlet-
ic Association, organized four years ago,
numbers among its members the greater
portion of the students. There are four
departments—-—football, field day sports,

lawn tennis and base ball. Along all
these lines the U. of I. athletes have
achieved marked distinction. With the

exception of last year there have been
annual contests between them and the rep-
resentatives of the Washington Agricul-
tural college, located only a few miles
away, and so far the honors rest with
the U. of I. boys. Last year, owing to
some disagreement between the two asso-
ciations, the wusual field-day contests
were canceled, to the disappointment of
all, and we but voice the sentiment of
everyone when we express the hope that
this year all differences will be ad-
justed and the wusual athletic exercises
take place. Last year the football games
did not materialize, owing to the failure
of the W. A. C. team to appear on the
date agreed upon, but already arrange-
ments are made for games with Lewiston
and Spokane. These and other athletic
sports receive the hearty encouragement
of the faculty, for experience has proven
that healthy out—-door exercises are ne-
cessary to the student's life and that he
who excels in athletics is always found
among those most proficient in the class
room.

In closing this brief sketch of our young
University we will state that its influ-
ence on the present and future welfare of
our State and community is one that cannot
be overestimated. Its aim is to make its
instruction thorough and practical, to
make the opportunities of 1life broader
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Scientific collections in the main hall of the old Administration Building.
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and to train its students for lives of
industry, self-helpfulness and honor.

CHURCHES OF MOSCOW

The Presbyterian church of Moscow was or-
ganized January 25, 1880, by the Rev.
Daniel Gamble, who served the church only
about a year. He was succeeded by Rev.
He He McMillan who remained two years,
and partially erected the present church
edifice. He was succeeded by Rev. W. C.
Beebe, who remained between one and two
years. After a vacancy of about two years
the church called the Rev. Alexander Adair
to the pastorate in December 1886. He
remained six years during which time the
church was painted, papered and supplied
with opera seats and a fine bell. He was
succeeded in 1892 by Dr. W. H. Sample who
filled the pulpit till the fall of 1393.

Uof I
The present pastor, Rev. D. 0. Ghormley,
formerly of Portland, Or., has been in

charge over three years. It is in most
excellent working condition and under his
able management has taken a place as one
of the leading churches of Moscow.

The First Baptist Church of Moscow was
organized August 6th 1876 at Paradise Val-
ley school-house by Rev. S. E. Stearns,

who supplied the church once a month as
the pastor for about two years. Rev.
D. W C. Britt then succeeded him for a
year and a half. Rev. S. W. Beaven was
then called as pastor and moved his family
to Moscowe. He remained in charge for
nearly four years, during which time A. A.
Lieuallen gave the church a lot for a
house of worship, which was soon after
built. He was followed by his father Rev.

Je. W. Beaven, who remained one vear.



Reve J. S. Fesenton supplied the church
as pastor for a few months when they
called Reve G. N. Annes who remained two
years. Rev. A. J. Cable took charge in
April, 1889 and by means of his excellent
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work the membership was increased from 60

to 153. He remained as pastor till his
resignation on account of failing health
in 1896. Rev. J. C. Douglas then suc-
ceeded him and is still in charge. The
old church, built in 1878 was for some
years the only house of worship in the
town. During the summer just passed,
feeling the need of more room the old
building was torn down and a handsome
edifice erected in its place.

The Christian church was organized in the
old Maguire school house by Elder D. B.
Matheny and he was the first to preach the
gospel in the vicinity of our embryo city,
as taught by the people known as the dis-
ciples of Christ. We have been unable to
give the extent of the work during the
early years of this church except that for
a time it was very prosperous. Fifteen
years ago Elder C. J. Wright reorganized
the work in Moscow and built up a member-
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ship of over 200. After his departure the
work ceased and the church practically
disbanded till the winter of 1888, when
Elder Wm. McDonald again reorganized and
continued to preach till the following
June. In the spring of 1890 Elder Wm. F.
Caroden took charge and perfected the
organization. In 1891 a church edifice
was erected and services were first held
in it on Feb. 14 of that year by Elder L.
Rogers assisted by James Sargent, since
which time there has been a constant
growth in membership. Elder Rogers was
succeeded by R. L. Lotz who remained
till the spring of 1896. His successor,
Elder Barrows and his talented wife have
since that time filled the pulpit in Mos-
cow and ViCiniZég
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First Methodist at 6th and Jefferson in
1883 (present day Grace Baptist Church).
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The Methodist Episcopal church of Moscow

was organized Aug. 8th, 1881 by Rev.
Calvin M. Bryan with a membership of
about 20. After a two years' pastorship

he was succeeded by Rev. Theodore Hoag-
land by whom their first church was built

in 1883-4, on a tract of land donated by
Henry McGregor. He was followed by Rev.
Je. C. Kirkman, who remained till July,



1885. The next minister was Rev. James
Greenslade, who also remained but one
year and was followed by Rev. W. B. Cari-
thers, who was pastor till September 1888.
During Rev. Carithers' ministry the old
church, which the congregation had out-
grown, was torn away and the present house
of worship erected on the same site. He
was followed in turn by Rev. R. C. HMoter,
Reve W. A. Tickner and Rev. N. E. Parsons
who took charge in Aug. 1890 and remained
two years, during which time the present
parsonage was erected. Rev. John Uren,
the pastor lately appointed to Pendleton
was with us five years and during his
ministry especially endeared himself to
his church and its friends. Rev. G. M.
Booth, the new minister is an earnest
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worker and the church will be kept in a
prosperous condition.

The Episcopal church was established by
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the Rev. Gill in 1888. Previous to this
time however, Rev. J. D. McConkey who was
located at Lewiston, made a number of
visits to Moscow and preached here in the
interest of this church. Rev. Gill was

V22227

southeast corner at lst

Baptist Church,
and Jackson, first church
Clifford Ogﬁzghoto collection.

in Moscow.

followed in 1890 by Rev. Patrick Murphy,
who remained till about eight months ago
when the present incumbent, L. R. Shef-
field was called. The present church was
built during the administration of Rev.
Murphy, about the year 1892. Rev. Shef-
field is now away on a visit East and
during his absence services have been con-
ducted by M. J. Chapman of Pullman. The
membership of this denomination is not as
large as that of some others in the city,
being about sixty, but their church choir
has the finest quartette in the city,
composed of Mrs. Carl Hoffman, soprano;
Miss Leta Baker, alto; C. F. Lake, tenor;
and Dr. Carl Hoffman, basso.

The Swedish Lutheran church was organized
about 1886 by Rev. P. J. Carlson, who had
charge of this work till 1891. During
this time the present church was erected.
Rev. C. A. Ramstead was next minister and
was succeeded about three years ago by
the present pastor, Rev. C. J. Beckman.
The house of worship is a neat edifice



standing on the corner of the block on
which the residence of W. J. McConnell
stands.

The Norwegian Methodist church was estab-
lished in 1886 by the Rev. Carl Erickson
and the present place of worship was built
about 1888. From that year till the pre-
sent time the pulpit has been filled in
turn by Reve C. L. Westberg, Rev. C. N.
Hauge, G. S. Anderson and Rev. Joseph
Olsen. The Rev. P. M. Melby took charge
during the last month and is the present
pastor. Their membership is about forty-
five.

The Catholic church of Moscow was orga-
nized in 1882 by Father Teomitie. Their
present building was erected in 1886 by
Father Hartleib who is still in charge.

The Dunkards have an organization here and
a house of worship, but we have been un-
able to secure the data in regard to its
early history. The membership is about
fifty.

The Seventh Day Adventist's church was or-
ganized in 1890 and a building erected by
Rev. Scoles. The denomination is at pre-
sent in charge of Rev. J. W. Bagby and the
membership is about eighty.

AGRICULTURAL RESOURCES

In writing a history of our thriving
city it is necessary to speak of the var-
ied resources of the surrounding country
of which it is the principal receiving
and distributing center. Latah county
contains within its limits the most fa-
vored section of what is known as the
famous Palouse country, of worldwide re-
putation for its genial climate, pic-
turesque scenery and wonderful produc-
tiveness of soil. The western and south-
ern portions of the country are a roll-
ing prairie under thorough cultivation.
The products are wheat, flax, barley,
oats, beans, hay, fruit and vegetables.
At the present time the cereals are the
principal crops, although the other
products are encroaching each year upon
the grain acreage and gradually reducing

18

it. The fruit . industry is_yet 1in its
infancy, but 1is growing with great
rapidity. In the southern portion of
the county where the altitude is the
lowest, the orchards are more advanced,
having been planted earlier, but in the
remote northern part peaches have been
raised very successfully and the yield
of apples, pears, prunes, peach plums,
apricots, cherries and the smaller fruits
is certain and simply enormous. The

trees, wunless securely propped, break
down almost every year with the weight
of their yield. All this part of Latah
county, contiguous to Moscow is an em-
pire within itself and constitutes one of
the richest agricultural countries in the
world. The last season has been an ex-
ceedingly favorable one and wunder the
stimulous of a prospective good price for
grain, an unusually large acreage has been
cultivated and harvested. This prospec-
tive price has materialized in the highest
quotations for wheat that have been of-
fered for the past five years and it is
estimated that the county's production
for 1897 will be over 3,500,000 bushels of
wheat, 1,000,000 bushels of oats and bar-
ley and 850,000 bushels of flax, to say
nothing of the immense bulk and value of
its other products. The wheat averages
thirty—-five bushels per acre, barley and
oats forty to fifty, and flax fifteen to
twenty bushels. By careful cultivation
there are many who produce greater yields
than the average. There have been many
cases during the past season where the
yield of spring wheat has reached sixty
bushels per acre and fall wheat as high as
eighty bushels per acre, but of course
this was where special care had been
taken in the preparation of the soil and
in the cultivation and harvesting of
the crop. In this section no irrigation
whatever is required, the natural rain-
fall being always sufficient to insure
bounteous crops without the expense of
establishing an artificial water system.

TIMBER RESOURCES
In the limited space allowed the writer

cannot give this subject the attention
that its importance demands, so will only



touch upon the more interesting facts as
mentioned by C. O. Brown, timber inspec-
tor, in his late report to the State.
Within the confines of Latah county is
the greater part of the largest body of
white pine now standing in the United
States. So far as the examinations have
gone it is estimated that this body of
timber contains the enormous amount of
2,000,000,000 feet of white pine and 5,-
000,000,000 feet of other timber consist-
ing of yellow pine, tamarack, red and
white fir and cedar. The title of the
greater portion of these timber lands is
vested in the State for the benefit of
educational and charitable institutions.

Well worn trails traverse this dense for-
est in every direction but their only
travelers are the restless prospectors
with their outfits seeking a phantom Klon-
dyke and passing carelessly by the sure
fortune that capital will in the near
future glean from this valuable tract.
The importance and necessity of opening
up this vast timber region to the manu-
facturer, and the great advantages and
benefits that would necessarily accrue to
this city have of late become so apparent
to the business men of Moscow and vicinity
that steps have been taken for the early
construction of a railroad to and through
this forest of untold value-—upon no tree
of which the lumberman's ax has yet fall-
en. A company has been incorporated under
the name of Moscow & Eastern Railway Co.,
and a preliminary survey made during the
summer just passed, from our city to the
timber belt. ’

When the time does come, and it is bound
to come, when these valuable resources are
made available, Moscow will receive a
"boom" far beyond anything we dream of.

MINERAL RESOURCES

Long before this country was considered
adapted to the pursuit of agriculture,
successful mining was carried on within
its confines. As far back as the 60's we
have record of placer claims having been
worked along our different water courses.
Besides rich deposits of gold and silver,
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there are also valuable mica and opal
mines within its limits. It may not be
known to all that the Idaho exhibit of
opals, that attracted such wide-spread
attention at the World's Fair came from
Latah county.

In 1881 a mine of mica was discovered
about thirty miles from Moscow by J. T.
Woody, and in a short time a number of
other locations were made in the same
vicinity. The principal placer mines in
the country are situated in the Hoodoo
district which has been worked for the
last thirty-five years. Other mines be-
ing worked successfully are on Jerome
creek, Swamp creek, Gold creek and many
others and in Howard gulch, Garden gulch,
Crumrine gulch and others on Moscow moun-
tain. The first quartz mill in the county
was operated on a ledge on Moscow mountain
and owned by Dr. Worthington and D. C.
Mitchell. In 1896 a mill was started in
the Daisy mine on Jerome creek, which is
now on a paying basis. On Ruby creek is a
most valuable gold and silver mine called
the Silver King. For years gold has been
taken from the ledges of Moscow mountain
by the "arrastre" process and if this
mountain of wealth was situated in some
remote locality, difficult of access it
would be considered a veritable Klondyke.
The Gold Bug, Golden Gate and the Big
Ledge are the principal mines now being
worked there.
driving a tunnel, which will be 200 ft.
in length, and a mill is to be put in,
in the spring.

In conclusion we have given our readers,
we trust, a not too extended account of
the early history and growth of our city,
together with its business interests, its
institutions and its varied and valuable
resources, and would impress upon them,
that all that has been written is neither
colored or overdrawn. If anything, we
have under-rated or omitted many impor-
tant facts that might be more fully writ-
ten. It 1is expected that errors may
have crept in, as from the nature of the
subject, the correct data has been at
times hard to secure.

The Golden Gate Co. is
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collect and preserve materials connected with the history of Latah County and to
provide further knowledge of the history and tradition of the area. Every person,
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museum, as well as educational outreach. The Society wishes to acquire objects,
documents, books, photographs, diaries, and other materials relat:ag to the history
of Latah County. These are added to the collections and made available to researchers
while they are preserved for future generations.

The Society is housed in the William J. McConnell Mansion, 110 South Adams, Mos-
cow. The museum is open from 1:00 to 4:00 p.m. Wednesday through Sunday. Visits to

the museum or research library are welcomed at other times and can be arranged by
calling (208) 882-1004.




